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Helen G. Wax, Elizabeth Gritter


Helen G. Wax:
When we came to Memphis in 1946 to Temple Israel –
Elizabeth Gritter:
Okay.
Helen G. Wax:
-- we found, in Memphis, the Zulu was restricted to – colored, as they were called – one day a week.  There was one public library branch open to blacks.  They can't use any – I'm using the term "black" now; I changed the titles, but anyway.  One day a week.  There was Jim Crow on the buses.  Memphis State was completely segregated.  I mean, there were no blacks accepted at Memphis State.  It wasn't called Memphis State then.  Let's see, the buses, the zoo, the library, Memphis State, were all definitely restricted.  
[0:01:00]
My husband was one of the class of a period of time who were ordained at the Hebrew Union College in Cincinnati of Reform Judaism.  They were called Social Justice Rabbis.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Ah.
Helen G. Wax:
They believed that the highest point of Judaism was the social message of the prophets.  When he came, he began, immediately, to get involved in speaking about injustice and justice.  He began to speak – then, of course, he was called upon by every black church in the community, I think, to speak to all the churches.  He spoke about the message of Judaism and justice, that sort of thing.  He did not try to be political, but he used the basis of religion, you see, the teachings of religion.  
[0:02:00]
He became known for being for better conditions for the blacks in the community.  He had the meeting of boards of organizations or groups, meeting groups, he had them meet at the Temple when – because they were blacks on the committee – they couldn't meet anyplace.  They had trouble finding a meeting place.  
Elizabeth Gritter:
Oh.
Helen G. Wax:
That was the situation when we came.  His first interest was in the mental health, and he started a mental health association and that sort of thing.  All things that helped humanity, you might say.  I don't mean to sound so – but that was true.  That was his ministry.  He then got – there were other ministers here, too, of course.  Christian ministers who felt the same way he did.  
[0:03:00]
They were all trying to find ways to help improve the conditions of the blacks in the community.  I don't remember the day.  You may find out from somebody the date when there was a committee organized called – I think it was a committee on race relations.  It was a committee of businessmen and professional men and ministers.  They were gonna try to improve the situation in Memphis.  
Elizabeth Gritter:
This is the committee on community relations?
Helen G. Wax:
Community relations, yes.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Okay.
Helen G. Wax:
Sometimes it was called race relations.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Oh, okay.
Helen G. Wax:
Well, you know about it, then.  I forget who was on it.  That's what I'm trying to think of.  People I know.  What's his name?  Birch, I think, was on it.  He died.  So many of these people have died.  
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.
[0:04:00]
Paul Tudor Jones was the minister of Iowa Presbyterian Church and he was a liberal, you might say.  He was involved in these things.  Well, these men work in the way – my husband, it was the way he liked.  He didn't believe in confrontation.  He thought you could always work things out with people.  

They worked out things.  They desegregated the buses.  They desegregated the library.  They desegregated Memphis State.  They desegregated the zoo.

How did they do it?  They did it by negotiation with the institutions and the organizations.  I have to say, the newspapers couldn't do it today because today everything has to be public.  They cooperated, or the commercial appeal did, by not publishing anything until after it happed.  
[0:05:00]
They had students enrolled the day before regis – they heard that there were carloads of people coming up from Mississippi to protest the registration of blacks at Memphis State.  Well, they had Memphis State enroll the students the day before.  So they were already enrolled.  They couldn't do anything about it.  They had people ride the buses desegregated and the newspaper didn't publish it until after it happened.  

You see, which meant it was almost like the fight was over.  It's accomplished.  In fact, they did so well here that the Justice Department in Washington sent down two men.  Did you hear about that?
Elizabeth Gritter:
I think I might have read this somewhere.
Helen G. Wax:
Yeah, they sent down two men to see how Memphis was doing so well when cities across the country were inflamed.  We didn't have any of those protests, the Beverly Big things.  
[0:06:00]
Now, Maxine Smith and her husband, they were very vocal leaders on behalf of the blacks.  I mean, they weren't striking.  They weren't doing anything physical.  I know my husband admired her greatly.  He worked with them, with the Smiths and people like that.

We accomplished a lot here.  Now, that isn't to say that Memphis was such a wonderful place.  The opposition was terrific.  See, Memphis touches Mississippi and Arkansas.  I mean, we literally touch Mississippi.  Go down Third Street and you cross a line and you're in Mississippi.  Arkansas's right over the river.  Well, those states had more of what we call "plantation mentality".  We had a lot of that in Memphis.  A lot of the people from here came from there.  This was really a population that was strongly anti-black.  
[0:07:00]
I mean, it was like – the thing was disturbing the patterns, the way people lived.  They were used to certain things.  

You wanna turn that off for a minute and I'll say where we're going from there?
Elizabeth Gritter:
Do you want me to pause it?
Helen G. Wax:
Huh?

[Audio Break]

Meanwhile – yeah, I'll say "meanwhile".  
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.
Helen G. Wax:
There was a great awareness of a certain element in the population who realized the inequities.  A lot was done by women.  The Panel of Americans – I don't think I have the date.  I don't have any dates here.  There were several Jewish women – that's why I have it on this thing like that.  The Jews didn't get involved in it.  
[0:08:00]
Were women who got together and tried to meet together for lunch and with some black women and people of other faiths to try to bring people together in the community.  That's what it was called, Panel of Americans.  They were equalizing.  We were all Americans.

Then, I don't know whether if it was end of '50s or the beginning of the '60s.  We cannot get an exact date.  Nobody can seem to find out.  I've talked to different people from various – previously, for the info.  You can't get it.  

A certain lady here, Myra Dreyfus, who was originally from Detroit, incidentally, she was not a native Memphian, but had lived here many years.  Her husband was a businessman.  She was at a meeting one day and heard that there were children in the schools who didn't have any lunch.  

[0:09:00]
Didn't bring lunch, and would actually eat things that other children dropped off the floor 'cause they were hungry.  So she, with others – now, I don't all the names of the others; I can't remember now – organized a group.  First it was just called Food for Fitness or something like that.  Then, they called it Fund for Needy Schoolchildren.  It grew.  One of the aims was to get the federal funds that were available to give free lunches to those who couldn't afford them.  


It was the same time – I don't know exactly how it worked.  I don't think it was the start of the Adopt-a-School Program, but I know our Temple sisterhood sort of took over the Kansas Street School, which was a black school.  
[0:10:00]
From that – I mean, that's the school I worked out of.  Now, other people were working out of other schools.  We went to the board of education and got blanks, and went from door to door in the black neighborhood of names – really, that had been given us by the school office with the way they knew the children were the poorest – getting the mothers to apply for free lunches.  

Well, we, white women, were aghast at what we saw because we weren't aware of it.  There'd be a two-room house and I don't know how many people living in it, but they'd bed in that front room and a light bulb hanging from the ceiling.  Here, we said children were supposed to go home and do their homework.  We saw people living like we didn't realize.  One time I went to a house and asked the woman what her last utility bill was.  

[0:11:00]
She had come in from the country; she'd never had a utility bill.  She'd never had electricity before.

See, these things were revealed to us that most of us in our society weren't aware of how bad the situation was.  Then, at one time, I went to the board of educat – not to the board, the administration of the school.  I'm not condemning the board of education, it's elected.  It was appointed then, but later – but to the actual school office, sent me to headquarters to get blanks.  They offered me three blanks.  I said, "I'm not gonna take three."
Elizabeth Gritter:
Three blanks?
Helen G. Wax:
Three blank forms to fill out, see.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Oh, okay.
Helen G. Wax:
I said, "I'm not gonna take three, I need more than that.  I'm not gonna go down there just to go to three houses."  They were so reluctant, you see.
Elizabeth Gritter:
What were the forms for?
Helen G. Wax:
For the mothers to fill out to apply for free lunches.  
[0:12:00]
Oh, for the lunches.  Okay.  
Helen G. Wax:
To apply for the free lunches.  That's what I need the forms for, the blank forms.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah, sure.
Helen G. Wax:
I had to fight with them because there had been an editorial in the paper not long before praising the woman in charge of school lunches 'cause she had saved $800 the previous year.  You see, all that was going on while nobody realized or paid attention that there were children hungry.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.
Helen G. Wax:
Those of us who were trying to even get the applications for free lunches which the children were entitled to.  See, there's a distinction between the administration and the board.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.
Helen G. Wax:
I'm talking about the administration.  I don't think the board was aware of it.  It wasn't a policy of the board.  They won't even know about it, those people.  I mean, it was sort of a struggle that we had.  

[0:13:00]
Then, later, they set up a shoe fund for the children who didn't have shoes.  Found a place that would sell them shoes for $2 a pair, one of these real cheap places.  If we only put shoes on the children who come to – or didn't come to school 'cause they didn't have shoes.  We learned all these things by going down.  

Then, there was a – Mrs. Dreyfus's son set up a program to work with high school students to try to direct them into going on to school and getting an education.  Ben Hooks, his wife, Frances Hooks, was the – 
[0:14:00]
Wanna say words, as much as I talk words sometimes – was the – what do you call it?  The counselor director at Carter High School.  An advisor to students – what do you – 
Elizabeth Gritter:
School counselor?
Helen G. Wax:
Counselor.  Yes, school counselor, but anyway, that's it.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Okay, okay, yup.
Helen G. Wax:
That's when I went down to try to help with that.  That's how I became friendly with Frances Hooks.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Okay.
Helen G. Wax:
I had tough luck with the students that I had.  I could never get any – I couldn't get them jobs and they didn't – I don't know, mine weren't good.  Some people were very successful, they got students who did have possibilities and went on to get an education.  That was what that was.  That was a whole program dedicated to that.

There was a lot going on in Memphis to help people.  We didn't have any out-and-out trouble until the strike.  

[0:15:00]
'Course that didn't come 'til the '60s.  Want me to talk about that?
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah, yeah.
Helen G. Wax:
Well, they were then called garbage men, now they're called sanitation workers.  The garbage men were the lowest paid of any city employees.  If it rained, they were sent home.  They didn't get paid for that day.  It was a terrible situation is the fact that they were really not treated properly.  In fact, they came along – I think there was an accident where one or two of them was killed by the compression thing – 
[0:16:00]
That the garbage guy killed them or something.  

We had a mayor, Henry Loeb.  He was very stubborn.  My husband maintained he was not an evil man, he was just stubborn.  The garbage men couldn't get any satisfaction, couldn't get any increase in pay or any regulations that were fair to them.  They decided to unionize.  

Well, there was a state law against government people unionizing.  So Henry Loeb stuck by the standard that it was against the law.  Well, if it's against the law to him, that's it.  He would not recognize the union.  
[0:17:00]
Well, the union was part of the – I never can say it – American Federation – oh God – AFSCME.  Anyway, they sent a man from New York down to see what was going on in Memphis.  'Cause the union here, then, they went on what they called – it was a strike and the garbage piled it.  There was no violence or anything.  

The men marched.  They carried signs which said, "I am a man," – I mean, you may have seen pictures; I don't know if you've seen pictures of it – meaning I'm a human being.  There was a big discussion about the strike.  
[0:18:00]
You were either for it or against it.  Some people wanted to march with them, but most didn't.  The city was so divided.  There was this largest element of really conservative people; put everything backing the mayor.  The newspapers called for "law and order."  That was the phrase.  "There should be law and order," which meant marching or union striking was not 'law and order', you see.  I mean, the newspapers were against the strike.  The authorities were all against the strike.

Then, New York, the headquarters of the union they belong to, sent a man down here.  His name was Jerry Wurf.  He was shocked when he got here.  He thought he was coming to a labor strike.  
[0:19:00]
What he found was it was a racial thing.  That's what he said.  He was surprised to find this was a racial thing.  That they didn't want to do anything for the blacks, see.  

I might mix which year it was, but it was before Martin Luther King, anyway.  They had a meeting down in the basement of Saint Mary's Cathedral down on Poplar and Alabama.  It's almost downtown, the Saint Mary's – the Episcopal Cathedral.  The mayor would not talk to the union man.  

My husband was president of the Minister's Association at the time.  He was like the, not chairman, but the middleman for the meeting.  
[0:20:00]
The mayor would speak to him and then he'd have to repeat it to the union man.  You'd think they were children.  The mayor, see, it was a principal, he would not have anything to do with the union.

My husband was in the middle.  Now, he was not a marcher.  He was trying to conciliate and get people together.  He also had to think of his congregation.  I mean, he couldn't be out there on the ramparts.  A lot of people in his congregation didn't approve of what he was doing all along when he spoke for War on Poverty and stuff like that.  A lot of people were against that sort of thing.  He was trying to keep his credibility with both sides, which he did to a degree.  
[0:21:00]
Everybody knew where he stood, but as I said, he wasn't the marcher kind.  That's why he was in the middle on this.  They met till 3:00 in the morning.  They couldn't get anywhere.

That's when Martin Luther King decided to come to join the march.  He came and they were marching.  Then, it was really some hooligans or bums at the rear end of the march started throwing some rocks, bricks, or something through some windows and some doors.  That started the riot.  Then, out came the police and the mace and all that sort of thing, saying, "Break it up."  He vowed to return.  It was when he returned when he was shot.  


There's a woman here – 
[0:22:00]
I think she's still – I was invit – turn it off for a second.  
Elizabeth Gritter:
Okay.
[Audio Break]

Okay.  Let me just make sure it's gone in.  Okay, yeah.
Helen G. Wax:
That year, he was here – well, it was the 11th year it was here – he got three awards.  One was from the – I don't know, it was the American Legion or something for Americanism award.  One was from the newspaper guild.  That was the newspaper writer's guild.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.
Helen G. Wax:
As a Distinguished Citizenship Award for his work with mental health.  The third was an award from the Tri-State Defender, which was the black newspaper, for his race relations work.  
Elizabeth Gritter:
Wow.
Helen G. Wax:
Years later, when we got – man who's now the rabbi at the Temple came as a young assistant.  He met Frances Hooks.  
[0:23:00]
When she asked him which synagogue he was with and when he said Temple Israel, she said, "Oh, Rabbi Wax was a saint to the black community."  'Cause he called me up; he said, "I just met Mrs. Hooks."  He said, "I have to tell you what she told me when I said I was from Temple Israel.  She said, 'Rabbi Wax a saint to the black community.'"

This is what I mean.  He was involved all through the years, doing every – everybody knew where he stood, but he wouldn't be out marching, is what I mean.  


Anyway, after Martin Luther King came and the night that he was shot, – this is a coincidence – we were going to Myra Dreyfus's house for a dinner party when we heard on the radio.  She gave us all our dinner to take home 'cause a – what do you call it – a curfew was set up right away.  
[0:24:00]
The next day, the ministers all met down at the church again.  I mean, not again, but they met down there, the Minister's Association.  'Course they were horrified at the thought that Martin Luther King was shot.  Some of them may have been more horrified that it happened in Memphis than that it happened at all, but anyway.  I mean, that was what happened.  See, many people were horrified that it happened in Memphis.  It gave Memphis a bad name.  They weren't really that sorry he was shot.  You know how mentalities are.

They decided they would like to talk to the mayor.  They called and the mayor said yes, they could come to see him, so they lined up in front of the church.  Father Demik of the cathedral carried a cross.  
[0:25:00]
Rabbi Wax was there up front 'cause he was the president of the association.  Two-by-two they walked from the church, the cathedral, down to the mayor's office.  The streets were lined with national guardsmen with their – whatever they were holding things.  This city was really under – what do you call it?  I'm trying to say – see I get – at my age, the words sometimes are in my head, but they cannot be mouthed.  
Elizabeth Gritter:
I know what you – 
Helen G. Wax:
[Crosstalk]  Military, military.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Okay.
Helen G. Wax:
That's what I'm trying to say, under military control.  They got down to the mayor's office.  He was there.  He always was there – had reached the point where he had a rifle under his desk before this 'cause they were afraid he was gonna be assassinated.  
[0:26:00]
All during that trouble, strike.  Somebody read a statement from the Minister's Association.  


Then, my husband, I guess he felt like Amos, he couldn't resist from speaking.  He said, "Well with all due respect," to the mayor.  He said there was such a thing as justice and then he ended with, "There are laws higher than the laws of Tennessee; the laws of god."

Well, there had been television cameras there, see.  It was the day after Martin Luther King was shot.  This was a big deal.  That went on on the 5:00 news, Walter Cronkite, all over the country.  The first thing I knew – 
[0:27:00]
I was home, I didn't know anything about what was going on in downtown.  I got a call from a rabbi out of town.  "Oh, it was wonderful.  I say Jimmy on television.  He was wonderful."  I didn't know what it was.  Then, I started to get calls, "What right does he have to talk to our mayor like that?"  

Well, all __ ____ is for two weeks we couldn't take our phone off the hook at night.  He got threats to run him out of town.  Everything was put on the basis of defense of the mayor.  He didn't say anything to the mayor.  He just said – they didn't hear the first part when he said, "With respect –", it was something like that.  All he was saying was the laws of God.  He wasn't attacking the mayor, but it was always taken as an attack on the mayor.  Anyway, what happened was that the whole thing frightened the city 'cause then there was really an uproar.  
[0:28:00]
Everything was put on the basis of protecting our mayor.  Let's just say it was terrible.  He had to go down to a wedding that had to be transferred back to Brownsville because of the curfew here.  My friends wouldn't let me stay in the house by myself because there really were threats.  

This was nothing compared to what black people had gone through.  Don't misunderstand me.  I'm not saying I was in the situation that they had been in.  Mrs. Turner and those people can tell you what they went through.  Police used to just storm through their house.  Come in the front door and go through and go out the back door for no reason.  

There was a situation – I'm jumping all around in time now – it was some time – we moved in our house in 1955 and it was after that.  

[0:29:00]
So I don't know whether it was the late '50s or early '60s.  I was looking out my kitchen window and I saw there had been two cars up at the corner.  We were on a corner.  It was the corner behind our house.  

My neighbor from across, a white woman, was out there and I went out.  A white woman had been driving a car with a child in it, and a black man had been driving a car, and they collided.  The white woman – my neighbor told me that the policeman came and this woman had taken her child out and put the child on the ground as if she'd been thrown out of the car.  She had picked it up and put it on the ground.  

[0:30:00]
The policeman was questioning the woman and the black man tried to say something, and the policeman said to him, "Shut up, boy, or I'll run you in."  This – my neighbor, I give her credit in every way.  I never knew how she stood up to him.  She said, "Officer, what's your name and number?"  With that, he changed.  

See, she saw it.  See, things like that were happening is what I'm trying to say.  They could do anything they wanted to any black.
Elizabeth Gritter:
The police officers.
Helen G. Wax:
Yeah, the police.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.  
Helen G. Wax:
I'm not saying every policeman would do it, but that was accepted.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Right.
Helen G. Wax:
I admired my neighbor for standing up like that.  She said, "Officer, what's your name and number?"  'Course he changed.  Right away, see, he was gonna blame the black man.  That was gonna be no problem.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.
Helen G. Wax:
That was his terminology, "Shut up, boy, or I'll run you in."  
[0:31:00]
Today, when I go into a restaurant and see blacks and whites who work together, coming in and having lunch together, I think little do you know.  I've been in department stores where – like somebody worked there before and came back, and a black young man and a white young woman and they throw their arms around one another.  You know, they're glad to see one another?
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.
Helen G. Wax:
I still get a twinge and think little do you know what went into your reaching that stage.  40 years ago, that wouldn't have happened.  You wouldn't have had blacks and whites eating at the same table in a Chinese restaurant.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Right.
Helen G. Wax:
I use that as and example because it was right after my husband died when I happened to be in a Chinese restaurant and saw these young people come in.
[0:32:00]
Just a moment, I wanna make sure it's still – okay.
Helen G. Wax:
But the change has – well, now, we have a black mayor, everything, black judges.  I am not aware of what the problems are today.  They keep saying there's still these serious problems, but I'm not aware of it today.  The change has been unbelievable from the time we came here.  'Course now the population's more than half black of the city proper because the white flight was terrific.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.
Helen G. Wax:
'Cause when they opened up the housing and all.  The school situation was terrible because we had not only the – 
[0:33:00]
See, in Mississippi in the south there were these White Citizens Councils.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.
Helen G. Wax:
Well, you see, we had the democrats, we had that mentality here and all these – I hate to say it, but it's true – conservative churches started their church schools.  That started the withdrawal of whites from the public schools.  
Elizabeth Gritter:
These were protestant churches?
Helen G. Wax:
Yeah.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Okay.
Helen G. Wax:
Well, the Catholics always had their own schools.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Okay.
Helen G. Wax:
See, so they didn't have to open them.  The always white churches – I don't mean the biggest, finest churches in town, but all the – I don't know how to – I don't wanna use the wrong kind of terminology.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Uh-huh.
Helen G. Wax:
I call them conservative.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.
Helen G. Wax:
That mentality of the White Citizens Councils.  
[0:34:00]
That's what really started the outflow of white from the school system.  Every church had its own school and all the white children went to the church schools.  Then people moved out, the people who could afford it.  Then some moved to – our city is divided.  It goes straight east from the river.  There's nothing on the west – I mean the – you go out from the river.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Oh, right, right.
Helen G. Wax:
It goes straight east.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah, yeah.
Helen G. Wax:
East Memphis.  This is now mid-town, but it wasn't then.  I mean, when we moved out, when we moved three blocks east of Ohio and we were going way out east.  This was all white, you see.  
[0:35:00]
Then people started moving out to Germantown to get away from the city schools.  They didn't get much better schools, but they moved the children out.  That's what destroyed the schools.  

The churches are still segregated as far as – we had desegregated every time except Sunday morning.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.
Helen G. Wax:
I mean, I still say people have a right to worship together, to live together, do whatever they want together.  They don't have a right to deliberately to keep others out.  They have a right to associate with whom they want to associate with.  You know that you have friends, you have things in common, so you associate with them.  You don't go out in the street and pull somebody in and say, "Be my friend."
Elizabeth Gritter:
Right.  
Helen G. Wax:
The school system here now is supposed to be very bad.  
[0:36:00]
My grandson had gone all through private school, which was not so much to keep out of public school, except he wasn't near any good public schools.  They always live – well, they lived in you know where Hein Park is?
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.
Helen G. Wax:
Well, that's right by Rhodes College.  
Elizabeth Gritter:
Okay.
Helen G. Wax:
Then they lived in Central Gardens in the beginning and he went to private school there.  It was three blocks from his house.  Then they lived in Hein Park and the only school he could've gone to high school was Central.  Central was 99 or 100 percent black.  


Well, no matter what your social beliefs are, you're not gonna want to put your child in a situation like that.  He wouldn't have any friends.  He wouldn't have anything.  But then he wanted to go to public school.  
[0:37:00]
Finally, he got into White Station the last two years of high school 'cause they didn't live in the district and it was hard to get in.  Well, he didn't want to go to the private school.  He wanted to go to public school, but they had a hard time getting him in to which is considered our best public school.

A lot of white people send their children to the – it's called an optional school.  
Elizabeth Gritter:
Okay.
Helen G. Wax:
Academic optional school.  Like for college preparation.  That's where he graduated from so he did, but they both finished high school at East High School 
Elizabeth Gritter:
Okay.
Helen G. Wax:
Except, which is now is the same thing, I guess 90 percent black.  At that time East High School was the first one built out a little. It's right here at Holmes and Poplar and Walnut Grove.  
[0:38:00]
That was the academic.  First, there was Central High School in town that all my generation went to.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Oh, okay.
Helen G. Wax:
See, that was the good school then before we came to Memphis.  Well, at that time too.  Then it became East and then it became White Station.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Sure.
Helen G. Wax:
As the neighborhoods changed.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.  Did you experience – you mentioned you experience all these threats during the sanitation strike, did you experience any of that before?  Given that your husband did a lot of and you did civil rights activism before then. 
Helen G. Wax:
No, no.  I can't help but think – as I said people knew where he stood.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.
Helen G. Wax:
But see, he always used the termin – 
[0:39:00]
First of all, he was always a democrat.  People would always – big businessman who was a republican ____ said he'd tell politics.  He'd always catch everything in biblical terms, see, and the social justice terms.  


I had a lot of things here that – Herschel Farbam, one of our friends.  He was head of the War on Poverty here.  There were a lot of people who took over a lot of these – Herschel Farbam could tell you a lot about what happened then.   Only white person to enter here, but he –
Elizabeth Gritter:
Oh.
Helen G. Wax:
You think I'm talkative; he's more talkative than I am.  In early '63, Richard Lightman, owner of the Memphis Malco Theaters, met in Washington with many other owners of theaters, restaurants, and hotels, to hear President Kennedy tell that the danger in the country can only be averted by breaking down old barriers.  
[0:40:00]
Mr. Lightman began the desegregation of the Malco Theaters, forthwith.  Then Marvin Ratner, that was the law firm that you knew about.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.
Helen G. Wax:
Herschel Farbam was a representative of Jewish _____ on the newly founded War on Poverty committee.  In '63, Doctor Lawrence Wruble – now, see these are happening to Jewish people I'm telling you 'cause – 
Elizabeth Gritter:
Sure.
Helen G. Wax:
A gastroenterologist who moved to Memphis in '63 single-handedly integrated Baptist Hospital by requesting admission for a patient who was black and was admitted.  Complaints followed copiously, but the hospital's decision to integrate placed it in compliance with federal regulations.  Before that no blacks were taken in the Baptist Hospital.  Then it goes on.  Oh, there was a woman here, Josephine Carson.  
[0:41:00]
She's living, but I think she's out.  They say she's lost it a little.  She was an army democrat and she was a democratic activist.  Wait a minute, that was when – okay, who was coming here?  Was it Mrs. Roosevelt?  

Somebody was coming here to speak and she, Josephine Carson, who was in charge of the thing somehow.  They were gonna have it segregated.  It was gonna be white audience only.  She refused to have it unless the audience was integrated.  So she accomplished that by herself, just demand – she solved that.  
[0:42:00]
She later became a – wait a minute, what was her position in charge of the state employment or something, had a state job.  Trying to think of what – I thought I had it here.  The Memphis Community on Community Relations at that.  

Lester Rosen was a Jewish man.  He was an insurance executive who worked hard.  He was instrumental in achieving integration of restaurants.  After picketing and jailing of blacks had occurred, Mr. Rosen met with the police chief.  Then, urged restaurant owners to integrate as had other Tennessee cities.  

Then it goes on about Rabbi Wax.  Then there was a rabbi from a conservative congregation.  
[0:43:00]
He didn't so much here in Memphis, but he was with a meeting of conservative rabbis up in the east at the time they went to the Montgomery bus strike.  They all went down there.  

I mean, a lot of people were taking part in things.  Now, Frank McRae – you can turn this off.  I don't think you – is it on?
Elizabeth Gritter:
It's on, but – yeah, I'm ___.
Helen G. Wax:
Oh, well.  Frank McRae grew up with Henry Loeb.  They were friends.  He was in a spot because he was a personal close friend of Henry Loeb, and at the same time, his tendency was more liberal thought.  He was in a spot at the time.  
Elizabeth Gritter:
Would you –
Helen G. Wax:
[Crosstalk]  They had a meeting right after Martin Luther King was – I think John T. Fisher was involved.  
[0:44:00]
Not a meeting, it was a thing.  It was called in Crump Stadium on a Sunday afternoon.  A thing called Memphis Cares.  
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah, yeah.
Helen G. Wax:
I want to tell you something, we went.  It was a terrible thing for my husband 'cause people didn't speak to him.  It was right after the – 
Elizabeth Gritter:
People who went to the Memphis Cares didn't –
Helen G. Wax:
Well, 'cause Memphis Cares was not anything to help the blacks.  Memphis Cares was to show that Memphis was a good city.  It was to defend the name of Memphis, basically, the people who were putting it on.

It lost its hold.  There was a man here – I can't think – O'rien or Ryan so Sobrian or something like that.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Tom O'Ryan.
Helen G. Wax:
Yes, when I've given – when I ask for talkative places, I always end up by saying that years like today many of the people who were most vocal in criticizing my husband at that time are praising him highly today because times have changed.
[0:45:00]
Yeah.
Helen G. Wax:
They accept what – it's fashionable.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.
Helen G. Wax:
See, things that took daring and nerve to people to go down into black neighborhoods and work and do things.  That took nerve in those days.  Not like today, you wouldn't do it at all 'cause you'd be scared for your life.  I mean seriously.  
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.
Helen G. Wax:
There wasn't the crime and all in those days.  I didn't have any hesitation about going down in the black neighborhoods, but some women wouldn't think of doing it.  It was considered daring to do it then just because it was a black neighborhood.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah, uh-huh.
Helen G. Wax:
Today, it would be criminal.  I wouldn't go down there today either and walk from door to door with the –
Elizabeth Gritter:
Right.
Helen G. Wax:
Now, one time, my companion was a black woman who was the – 
Elizabeth Gritter:
This is when you were doing the school –

[0:46:00]
Fund for Needy School Children, the lunch program.  
Elizabeth Gritter:
Okay, the lunch program.  Okay.
Helen G. Wax:
Her husb – she was the widow of Bishop Mason who was the head of this big international black church group.  Her name was Elsie Mason.  I told you about the kind of houses we went in and we saw.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.
Helen G. Wax:
She told me – see they traveled all over the world 'cause it was an international church.  She says, "I was gonna bring an African child here to raise."  She says, "Until I discovered there were children right here in my own community.  I didn't know how poorly they were living."  Even she didn't realized how bad the situation was here, she confessed to me.  
Elizabeth Gritter:
Wow.  
[0:47:00]
Would you talk more about the interracial group, the Panel of Americans, and –
Helen G. Wax:
I can't tell you too much about it, but I'll tell you who you can speak to.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Okay.
Helen G. Wax:
Yeah, I've got – oh God – Joscelyn Wurzburg, she's a lawyer.  I can actually give you her phone number, I guess.  Well, I can't give you her office phone.  You can get that in a phonebook.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.
Helen G. Wax:
The Panel of Americans – now wait a minute.  What I'm reading from, incidentally, is something that was an article entitles "Memphis Jews and the Civil Rights Movement".
Elizabeth Gritter:
Okay.
Helen G. Wax:
Which was gotten up by Genie –
[Audio Break]
Elizabeth Gritter:
Okay, okay, sorry.  
Helen G. Wax:
Now, I said that night the people today – I mean, I realized there were people there praising my husband that I knew were dead set against him 30 years before.
[0:48:00]
Right.
Helen G. Wax:
I mean, I know – but I have also used the expression.  I have a long memory.  I can forgive, but I can't forget.  I know the people who – how they felt years ago and today they're all so nice and it's lovely.  It's very easy to be for equality and justice today.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.
Helen G. Wax:
It wasn't easy then.  
Elizabeth Gritter:
Why do you think that people were so opposed back then to your husband's activities and threatened you for the – 

Helen G. Wax:
Well, I mean, they weren't opp – it wasn't that they were opposed to us so much as they were opposed to the whole idea of change.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.
Helen G. Wax:
They weren't opposed to us just as opposed to us.  
[0:49:00]
They were opposed to the ideas we were propelling.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Right.
Helen G. Wax:
Promoting.  I don't say me 'cause I didn't take any public – I did things, but I didn't take any public stance.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah, yeah.
Helen G. Wax:
Nobody quoted me.  That was it, they didn't believe in change.  As I said, a lot of these people, they were wealthy people.  They had – well, not the – in fact, some of the worst ones were the ones who weren't wealthy.  They were always afraid of the blacks.  There always has to be somebody over – you have to be over somebody.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.
Helen G. Wax:
A lot of these country people had no standing anywhere except that they were above the blacks.  

There are women out here today, make references.  They're make references about Harrington – I couldn't get it out – Harrington.  That was just 'cause he's black.  
[0:50:00]
Gotta get rid of Harrington.  They had no reason to wanna get rid of Harrington.  He hadn't been a bad mayor.  
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.
Helen G. Wax:
See, I can tell, they still – then people will make remarks if they don't like to go to a certain grocery store 'cause there's too many blacks there.  I mean, this is just your custom, your habit.  
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah, yeah.  Oops.
Helen G. Wax:
Uh-oh.  ____ ____ ____
Elizabeth Gritter:
I think that with the – you mentioned the school lunch program, that you didn't know what date that was, but I wonder if that was 1961 or after because the Elementary and Secondary Education Act was passed in 1961 and that might've been the act that created this federal program for schools because – 
Helen G. Wax:
I don't know.  I asked Genie – I just happened to run into her in a restaurant at lunch, yesterday.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.
Helen G. Wax:
I said, "Genie, I've been trying again to figure out just when did the Fund for Needy Children start?"
[0:51:00]
Yeah.
Helen G. Wax:
She says, "We have never been able to pinpoint it.  Everybody who has started it has died."
Elizabeth Gritter:
Ah, yeah.
Helen G. Wax:
She's the daughter-in-law of the woman who started it.  One of the public schools is named for her, Ms. Myra Dreyfus, today.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Oh, okay.
Helen G. Wax:
She was recognized as one – there's another, there's a woman who goes to my beauty shop.  She lived next to my son in Central Garden.  Ms. Dot Bailey.  She's worked through the years for that and for the placement program trying to get the high school children – she's not Jewish.  I mean, I'm not claiming that these were all Jewish women.  
Elizabeth Gritter:
Oh, yeah.  Yeah, I know.
Helen G. Wax:
Dot Bailey, she's worked for years with that.  I hate to say it; she's lost it too now.  Her mind isn't clear.  Sometimes she recognizes me in the beauty shop and sometimes she doesn't.  Somebody brings her every week.  She's on a cane or a walker.  It's been a – I feel like I'm a survivor.
[0:52:00]
She's the person, I could've said, "Dot, do you remember when it started?" but I can't ask her now 'cause she's –
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.
Helen G. Wax:
Her mind is gone.  
Elizabeth Gritter:
If the outfit was tied to the federal school lunch program, if that was created by 19 – 
Helen G. Wax:
Well, maybe – whatever it was, we found out we could get – if the public school could get the money, then give it, so it could've been that.  We said it was either the end of '59 or the beginning of '60.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Oh, okay.
Helen G. Wax:
That's what Genie and I were talking about yesterday.  But we couldn't –
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.  Well, then, it could've been that there was another program before the National School Lunch Program was created.  
Helen G. Wax:
When was that?
Elizabeth Gritter:
I think that was the 1961 with the elementary –
Helen G. Wax:
Well, then maybe it was '61.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.
Helen G. Wax:
See, we couldn't remember.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah, all of them –
Helen G. Wax:
It started here with the idea this woman discovering that there were children who'd go into school without lunch.  Whereas the teachers and the school administration knew it, but nobody did anything about it.  
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.
[0:53:00]
When she heard about it, she was just horrified.  It took courage, you see, in those days, which today, it doesn't take courage to do social programs.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.
Helen G. Wax:
Her husband was a businessman.  He owned a jewelry store on Main Street.  Well, he could be penalized.  
Elizabeth Gritter:
For?
Helen G. Wax:
For anything she did, you see, with people that object, but he stuck by.  She didn't stop.  Now, there was – who were some of the women.  A woman named Walker.  Oh God, what was her first name?  Oh my Lord.  Her husband was the big banker.  
Elizabeth Gritter:
Oh, Armstead Walker?
Helen G. Wax:
Yeah.
Elizabeth Gritter:
His wife?
Helen G. Wax:
Yeah, I can't think of –
Elizabeth Gritter:
I don't know her name.  
Helen G. Wax:
I know.  I went to a meeting with her once and was just telling her – she was a very fine lady.  
[0:54:00]
They sent their daughter away to school in high school 'cause they could say they didn't want to send her to a school here. 
Elizabeth Gritter:
Oh, 'cause of the racial conscious – 

Helen G. Wax:
Well, they were, but they weren't good schools and they couldn't send her to private school.  They wouldn't take her.  They wanted a good education for their child.  People were entitled to do what they think is best for their own child.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Right.
Helen G. Wax:
In fact, they came up with the very thin – is this off?
Elizabeth Gritter:
No, it's on.  Do you want me to –

Helen G. Wax:
Turn it off 'cause I don't like to be too personal.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Okay.
[Audio Break]

If you could talk, too, about what Main Street was like.  I know that there was a big boycott of Main Street by the NAACP from 1960 to '61.  I was thinking to myself, I heard someone else describe Main Street, but I'm not coming – being not from the – 
Helen G. Wax:
Main Street was where you went to shop.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.
Helen G. Wax:
There was Leevy's Store and Landers.  
[0:55:00]
There was Goldsmiths and Lowenstein's Department stores and – oh my God what was the other one?  There was a smaller, not really a department store, but like a – oh my Lord that's terrible with that name.  I can't get that name out.  They were the last ones to integrate.  Now, Goldsmiths was the first store to integrate.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Okay.
Helen G. Wax:
Now, they wanted to integrate, but they had to be careful how they did it.  
Elizabeth Gritter:
Goldsmiths?
Helen G. Wax:
Goldsmiths, sure.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Okay.
Helen G. Wax:
I mean, it was a matter of trying to integrate all the – desegregate more than integrate, but desegregate.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Right, right.
Helen G. Wax:
They figured out a way – I learned this when a Goldsmith told me.  They had a bakery department.  
[0:56:00]
The first black they hired to be a sales person was in the bakery department because they could wear a white uniform like the whites were there.  The first people they hired.  Things had to be done so gradually.

The banks here, the first people they hired were in the office upstairs.  It took a long time before they could have a black teller because all our customer's from Mississippi and so on.  They wouldn't come in and deal with a black person.  The department store's the same thing.  

Now, oh what was the name of that store?  That other store who was the last one to integrate.  That's when they all stopped going there for lunch.  They had a nice lunch thing, but –
Elizabeth Gritter:
Brees?
Helen G. Wax:
Huh?
Elizabeth Gritter:
Brees?
Helen G. Wax:
Oh Brees was out of business years before that.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Okay.  Lowenstein's?  
Helen G. Wax:
Huh?
Elizabeth Gritter:
Lowenstein's?
Helen G. Wax:
No, no.  Goldsmiths and Lowenstein's were the two big ones.  There was other – God, I think it started with a "B".  
[0:57:00]
See, that's what happens to you when you get old.  I can't think of the name.  Anyway, that was the last one to integrate.  I remember they had a cute little lunchroom thing.  That's when we stopped going there for lunch 'cause they wouldn't go along.

Goldsmiths, they used to have charge plates.  We didn't have MasterCard things, those things.  We had metal charge plates.  We'd have many that got sent back them, people weren't gonna deal with them anymore.  

This was a big thing.  That was the shopping street.  That's where everything was.  __ ___ ___ ___.  _____ ____ was downtown on Main Street.  The Men's Store and Hally Lady's Dress Shop.  
[0:58:00]
We all went downtown.  We'd go downtown.  Thursday night was maid's night off.  All the maids were off on Thursdays.  Thursday night, people would go out for dinner.  We used to go down to Goldsmiths.  They had a big dining room on Thursday nights for dinner.  Everything was centered on downtown and Main Street.

Gradually, people moved out.  The first shopping center that was built was at Poplar and Highland, here, a plaza.  Lowenstein's was there for years.  
[0:59:00]
East High was at Poplar and Holmes.  That was the first high school built out from downtown.  Then, the plaza, I just said, the plaza.  That was the first shopping center.  See, Highland was way out.  Downtown was everything; Main Street, I mean.  Some doctors were downtown.  My dentist was in a building downtown.
Elizabeth Gritter:
You talked, too, about how the social work was really controversial to do back in the 1960's.
Helen G. Wax:
What I say it wasn't social, it was only certain people who did it.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Okay.
Helen G. Wax:
The others – how can you go down there – people would say – people weren't involved in that kind of social work.  They'd be church work.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah, yeah.
Helen G. Wax:
See, for years when we first came here, the big thing was that – 
[1:00:00]
Like Christian-Jewish relations.  First of all there was the Conference of Christians and Jews, for example.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah, yeah.  
Helen G. Wax:
There were interfaith – there was brotherhood week.  They went and talked to schools and the big deal about brotherhood which didn't lead to anything physical, but it was the idea that we were supposed to be brothers, if you know what I mean.  It didn't improve any situations, really.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Among Christians and Jews?
Helen G. Wax:
Yeah.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Okay.
Helen G. Wax:
And just among Christians, too.  It didn't just involve Jews, I didn't mean that.  There were just – there were efforts – I mean, the people weren't oblivious to the fact that people had to get along in the world.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.
Helen G. Wax:
It was just like the blacks were just out of it.  
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.  
[1:01:00]
In terms of doing the social programs, that was controversial because you were dealing with the black population?
Helen G. Wax:
Yeah.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Okay.
Helen G. Wax:
Well, what I mean is it was like – I mean, I never had anybody criticize me for doing it.  It's just they'd say, "How can you go down there?"  There were plenty people who did, don't misunderstand me.  A lot of Christian women in the city did it. 
Elizabeth Gritter:
It seems like, to me, when I'm – I've done a lot of reading about the civil rights movement, and that Jews, more than any other group among white people, seem to be the ones who have been the most progress on race relations.
Helen G. Wax:
Well, that's a question that's asked many times, "Why us?"
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.
Helen G. Wax:
There's several reasons given.  
[1:02:00]
One is that all through the years, through the centuries, Jews have been the subject of persecution themselves, so they're aware of it.  The teachings in their religion, you see, are more this-worldly.  One of them says the purpose of Judaism is the – wait a minute – perfection of this world under the sovereignty of God.  I mean, Judaism is not concentrated on the next world.  I guess that's sort of a reason.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.  When I was at UNC, there was a documentary that I saw that they showed on Southern Jews.  About how Southern Jews were much more accepted and assimilated in American culture than blacks.  
[1:03:00]
Than blacks, they'd have nothing to do with blacks, you see.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.
Helen G. Wax:
The thing is – what I've never understood, I mean I have to admire – so many Jews came to the small towns in the South and that's it.  They became leading citizens of the town because they were accepted.  'Course very religious Christians accept Jews.  They weren't afraid of them as far as competition.  See, in business, a lot of business people were afraid of competition.  

[1:04:00]
I had a grandfather who lived in a small town in Maryland.  He was the chairman of the city council for many years.  He always got more votes than whoever voted for mayor.  When my uncle – this is before my time, of course – was killed in World War I, the American Legion post in that town is named for him.  They lost four boys in that war, that little town.  The American Legion post was named for him, the only Jewish one.  

I don't know, it's just they were considered good people.  They weren't feared.  I really think the worst problem with the Jews was in the big cities where they were more feared.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Like what cities?
Helen G. Wax:
I mean, like New York, Chicago, places like that, you see.  They weren't individuals.  They were a group.  
[1:05:00]
I don't know, this is just my theory.  
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah, yeah, yeah.
Helen G. Wax:
But they were more separated.  Whereas in the smaller communities.  In Memphis, see, we had a Jew who was president of the school board back in the 1800s.  Now, they've always been respected here, but there was always the Memphis Country Club that never had a Jew, wouldn't have allowed a Jew.  The University Club didn't have a Jew.  

There was a section – when we started looking for a house back in the '50s, early '50s.  Somebody told use there was a house on Tuckahoe.  This man, local man – oh don't write it down 'cause I don't wanna quoted for that.
Elizabeth Gritter:
You want me to turn it off?
Helen G. Wax:
Oh, yes, yeah.
[1:06:00]
Okay.

[Audio Break]
Helen G. Wax:
I don't wanna get it off on a Jewish thing.
Elizabeth Gritter:
This is for me, this is interesting.  
Helen G. Wax:
He always said Jews had the right to vote and the right to earn a living ____ ___.  They were all right.  They didn't have to bother about the social distinctions.  What do you care if you can't get in the Memphis Country Club?  What harm is that gonna do you?
Elizabeth Gritter:
Right. 
Helen G. Wax:
'Course there's always Jews who try.  Some people who want to.  I just mean that the Jews have been a great part of this community.  In fact, a Christian man, a real leader, who I have sat next to at a dinner party a few years ago, he said to me, "Ms. Wax, I am really so surprised to hear that there are only 10,000 Jews in Memphis."  
[1:07:00]
He says, "Because the way they're prominent is how they support everything from symphony, museums, everything that goes on in the city."  He says, "I thought there were many more."  
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.
Helen G. Wax:
They've always wanted to be a part of the community.  Once they got the financial ability, they're generous.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah, yup.  I have to see how we're doing with time 'cause I know you have to get –

Helen G. Wax:
What is it?  It's 10 minutes 'til 5:00.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Okay.
Helen G. Wax:
My son's gonna be – daughter-in-law picking me up to go out for supper.  
Elizabeth Gritter:
Is there anything else you wanted to add at all?
Helen G. Wax:
No, 'cause I don't know what else you'd want yet, but I would get in touch with Jocelyn Wurzburg if you're interested about the women.  
Elizabeth Gritter:
Okay, let me turn this off then.
Helen G. Wax:
I think I've told you about the Fund for –

[End of Audio]
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